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From its location, overlooking Canoe Neck Creek, St. Clements Bay, as well as Newtown
Neck, Burlington derives its significance from the high integrity of its surrounding environment,
as well as its overall architectural desi gn, association with the Dent family, and for its potential to
yield important archaeological information. Situated near the agricultural crossroads community of
Oakley, Maryland, Burlington is a two story, frame, double-pile plan dwelling constructed in the
1880s-1900s. For almost 90 years, the dwelling served as the ancestral home of the Dents, a
locally prominent family who were active in politics, agriculture, commerce, and education. John
F. Dent, originally purchased the 234 acre property surrounding "Burlington” sometime in the
1840s or 1850s from John Kilgour. Architectural evidence suggests the current house was built
between 1880-1900. The exterior was covered with "German” or beveled siding, the balustrade
on the front porch and widow's walk featured intricate scroll sawn work, much of the frame was
attached together with mature cut nails, and the interior mantles and decorative trim are all
consistent with the time period. In the 1910s a two story kitchen was added on to the east gable

end of the dwelling.

Curiously, remnants of an English brick bond foundation were located in the basement that
suggested the current building replaced a dwelling of an earlier date. The earliest reference to
"Burlington” is found in the St. Mary's County Debt books which note that from 1756-1758
George Bullock owsed "Part of Burlington or St. Clements Manor” which contained 75 acres.
John Bond also owned a similarly named tract that contained only 25 acres during the same time
period but no mention of 8 house is made. Native American middens as well as a possible
seventeenth century domestic site just south of the dwelling reveals that Burlington encompasses

almost five or six centuries of St. Mary’s county history and prehistory.
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John F. Dent, a prominent politician who was at one time the Speaker of the House of
Delegates, wrote extensive diaries from 1853-1898. While he never mentioned the construction of
the house, Dent wrote periodically about the injustices Union troops inflicted upon him and his
neighbors and needless to say was a fervent Confederate supporter who also spoke out extensively
about the rights of states. Oral tradition relates that Dent's harbored escaped prisoners from Point
Lookout and helped them escape to Virginia. But while known for their controversial exploits, the
Dent's were also tremendously active in education. J. Marshall Dent, for instance served as a
school trustee for the school in Oakley and was also oversaw the Female Seminary School in
Leonardtown. Lettie M. Dent (later Gough) is best known as an educator and superintendent of
schools for St. Mary's County from the 1920s-1950s. She oversaw a critical period in the
county's schools--the shift away from one room schoolhouses to consolidated elementary and high
schools. As a result of her dedicated service a scholarship fund was created in her memory--an
award to students in St. Mary's County interested in pursuing careers in education. The county

also named an elementary school near New Market after Miss Dent.
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Historic Context

Geographic Organization: Western Shore
Chronologicial/Developmental Period: Industrial-Urban Dominance, 1870-1930
Historic Period Theme: Architecture

Resource Type

Category: Building
Historic Environment: Rural
Historic Function and Use: Residence

Known Design Source: None
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Survey No. M-144

1. Name findicate preferred name)

historic Burlington

and/or common

2. Location

S side of Oakley Road (Rt. 470) approximately 1 mile S of the intersection of Qakley and Suggf pu&ucaRgilon

street & numbe ____ not
city, town  Qakley _X_ vicinity of congressional district 7
state  Maryland county St. Mary's County  TM-39, B-19, P67
- - -
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
_ district —— public _X__ occupied __X agricuiture —___ museum
X building(s) _Xx private ____ unoccupied ____ commercial _ park
— structure ___ both ____ work in progress __ educational __X private residence
—_ site Public Acquisition Accessible — entertainment — religious
- __ object ___in process X yes: restricted ___government ___ scientific
___ being considered ____yes: unrestricted ___industrial _ transportation
_Xnot applicable __  no ___ military ___ other:

4- Owner Of Property (give names and mailing addresses of all owners)

name William C. and Claire B. Mulford

street & number  Star Rt Box 80 B telephone no.: 301-769-3430

city, town Avenue state and zip code Maryland 20609-9801
5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. St. Mary's County Courthouse liber MRB 437
street & number folio 144
city, town Leonardtown state MEryland

6. Representation in Existing #istorical surveys

titte Burlington

date 1970 ___federal _X state X county ___ local

Jepository for survey records | eryland Historical Trust

city, town Crownsville state Maryland




7. Description Survey No.St144

Condition Check one Check one

X __excellent — deteriorated ____ unaltered X__ original site

—__good — ruins —x__ altered —__ moved date of move
—_ fair —___ unexposed

Prepare both a summary paragraph and a general description of the resource and its
various elements as it exists today.

Contributing Resources: 3

Located in Oakiey, Maryland, Buriington is situated on Route 470 (Oakley Road)
approximately 2 miles south of the northern intersection of Maryland Routes 470 and 242 (Colton
Point Road). The house is approached via a straight 0.2 mile long dirt drive that terminates on a
circular drive in front of the dwelling. Lying at the headwaters of Canoe Neck Creek, the house 1s
oriented on a north-south axis and overlooks the confluence of Canoe Neck Creek and St.
Clements Bay. Itis surrounded by cultivated fields of corn and soybean and is situated near
several agricultural outbuildings including an old stable (now garage), two tobacco barns, an old
chicken house, and a stripping shed.

Originally constructed in the 1880s-1890s, Burlington is a two story, frame, double-pile
plan dwelling with a two story gable end wing erected in the 1910s. Situated on a common bond
brick foundation, the house is sheathed on the exterior with "German" siding attached to the
circular sawn frame with cut nails. The eaves are enclosed and the roof, pierced by three interior
chimneys with corbelled tops, is covered with asphalt shingles.

The primary or north elevation presents a symmetrical placement of bays or openings. The
central three bays are located in a two story projection with a gable front. The three bays of this
section consist of a four panel door with a single light transom flanked on either side by a six-over-
six, double-hung sash window. The three first floor bays are shaded by a gable front porch. The
porch features scroll sawn brackets, chamfered posts, and a scroll sawn balustrade. The second
floor of the projection is pierced by three, six-over-six windows. The attic story is pierced by a
Palladian window that consists of a central four-over-four window with two-over-two sidelights.
Each side of the central projection features two, six-over-six windows on both the first and second
floors. Each window bay features hardware for louvered shutters, but the shutters are currently
being repaired and repainted. The two story wing is located on the east side of the dwelling. Each
floor of the wing is pierced by two, two-over-two windows.

The west or gable end elevation is pierced on the first and second floor by three,
symmetrically aligned six-over-six windows. A fourth set of bays was precluded by the
construction of an interior end brick chimney that rises in its stead. The attic story is pierced by a
centrally located six-over-six window.

The south or water side elevation features eight bays on the first floor and seven on the
second floor. While this elevation does not feature a projection it does exhibit a centrally located
cross gable The main centrally located door features fifteen lights with a single light transom
overhead. To the west of the door are two six-over-six windows, a fifteen light door to an old
bedroom, and a six-over-six window. To the east, the main block is pierced by three six-over-six
windows, while the kitchen wing features a four panel door and a four-over-four window. All of
the bays on the first floor are shaded by a screened-in porch that was constructed using the original
chamfered posts. The second floor of the main block is pierced by seven six-over-six windows
while the wing is pierced by one door that leads to a second floor sun-porch lit by a series of one-
over-one modern sash. The attic story of the main block is lit by a three-part Palladian window
with a central six-over-one window flanked by two-over-two sidelights.

The east elevation consists of the gable end of the wing and main block of the dwelling.



8- Significance Survey No. St144

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below
—— prehistoric ___ archeology-prehistoric ____ community planning ___ landscape architecture ____ religion
—1400-1499 ____ archeology-historic —__ conservation - law — sclence
- 1500-1598 ____ agriculture - economics - literature —_ sculpture
—1600-1699 _X_architecture — educatlon —__ millitary ____social/
— 1700-1799 ___ art —___engineering — _ muslc humanitarlan
X 1800-1899 __ commerce — exploration/settlement ____ philosophy — theater
— 1900~ —__ communications — industry - politics/government ____ transportation
- invention — other (specify)
Specific dates Buiider/Architect
check: Applicable Criteria: _ A _ B xC _ D
and/or
Applicable Exception: _A _ B _C _D _E _F _ G
Level of Significance: _ national x state X _local

Prepare both a summary paragraph of significance and a general statement of history and
support.

From its location, overlooking Canoe Neck Creek, St. Clements Bay, as well as Newtown
Neck, Burlington derives its significance from the high integrity of its surrounding environment,
overall architectural design, association with the Dent family, and for its potential to yield important
archaeological information. Situated near the agricultural crossroads community of Oakley,
Maryland, Burlington is a two story, frame, double-pile plan dwelling constructed in the 1880s-
1900s. For almost 100 years, the dwellin g served as the ancestral home of the Dents, a locally
prominent family who were active in politics, agriculture, commerce, and education. John F.

- Dent, originally purchased the property surrounding "Burlington" sometime in the 1840s or 1850s
from John Kilgour. Dent and Kilgour, however, never recorded a deed to recognize the
transaction. Finally in 1881, Dent was officially granted the tract by Kilgour's daughter Jane
Hagul Goldis Collins. The tract was noted as being located at the head of Canoe Neck Creek and
part lying in Church Swamp and containing 234 acres. Seven years later in 1887, John F. Dent
took out a $3000 mortgage possibly to fund the building of the present house. Because the Dent's
were hit hard by the economic realities of post-abolition agriculture, however, this money mi ght
also have been used to merely pay off their many debts. Architectural evidence appears to confirm
an 1880s-1900s date. The exterior was covered with "German" or beveled siding, the balustrade
on the front porch and widow's walk featured intricate scroll sawn work, much of the frame was
attached together with mature cut nails, and the interior mantles and decorative trim are all
consistent with this timeperiod in St. Mary's County architecture. In the 1910s a two story kitchen
was added on to the east gable end of the dwelling. Curiously, remnants of an English brick bond
foundation were located in the basement that suggested the current building replaced a dwellin gof
an earlier date. The property also contains three tobacco barns--two erected c. 1840s and another
that dates from the early twentieth century.

Native American middens as well as a possible seventeenth century archaeological site just
south of the dwelling dates the first occupation to prehistory. The earliest historic reference to
"Burlington” is found in the St. Mary's County Debt books which note that from 1756-1758
George Bullock owned "Part of Burlington or St. Clements Manor" which contained 75 acres.
John Bond also owned a similarly named tract that contained only 25 acres during the same time
period. Burlington, therefore, encompasses almost five or six centuries of St. Mary's County
history and prehistory.

John F. Dent, the matriarch of the Dent family and once a Speaker of the Maryland House
of Delegates, wrote extensive diaries from 1853-1898. While hg never mentioned the
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SM-144, Burlington
St. Mary's County
7.1 Description

The wing is pierced on the first floor by two, two-over-two windows and on the second floor by
two, six-over-six windows. The main block is pierced on the first floor by two, six-over-six
windows and on the second floor by two, six-over-six windows. The attic story is lit by a
centrally located six-over-six window.

The interior of Burlington features a center passage double pile plan. The center passage,
however, is exceptionally wide and functions as a sitting room. The passage/sitting room permits
entry into every room on the first floor. More specifically, the passage is flanked on both sides by
two rooms and also leads into a library/study directly to the south. The passage also contains the
stairs to the second floor. The stairs feature a turned newel (similar to that found at the Thompson
House (SM-594)) as well as turned balusters. All of the window and door surrounds on the first
floor are darkly stained and exhibit slightly arched hoods. Each of the rooms that radiate from the
center passage contain a fireplace that feature similarly reeded pilasters and friezes. Two of the
rooms, in the northwest and southeast corners, feature slightly less decoration on the window and
door surrounds signalling a secondary importance. Interestingly, Clair and Dr. Bill Mulford noted
that one of these rooms was originally used as a bedroom. The kitchen wing, located on the east
side of the dwelling, presently consists of one room that also contained a pantry. Itis connected to
the main block through separate doors to the two side parlors. An enclosed stair to the second
floor further connects the kitchen wing to the main block. The second floor of the main block
features a similarly large sitting room with five bedrooms radiating fromit. A bedroom over the
kitchen is accessed through a door located in the northeast comer bedroom of the main block. The
attic is unfinished but was intended to eventually be a livable space. The stair decoration was
continued, the door jambs were installed, but the plaster work was never begun. The roof framing
consists of circular sawn members. The rafters are butted at the peak to a ridge board and fastened
with mature cut nails.

The property also features two mid-nineteenth century tobacco bamms. The farst barn is
located just north of the house and east of the farm road. The barn is a rectangular structure
oriented on a east-west axis. The main structure measures approximately 24 feet wide and 60 feet
long. Sheds once extended from the west and south sides of the building but were removed during
a recent renovation.

Constructed c. 1840s, the main body of the barn features a cross axial plan with large
double doors centered on the east and west elevations, and narrow single doors centered on the
north and south gable ends. Several other doors have been added to the east and west facades
during the recent renovation. A single door was added to the west side and a double door was
added on the east side. Many of the doors feature reproduction wrought hinges that were based on
original strap hinges that were used to hang the doors. The bamn currently features a concrete pier
foundation and the exterior is clad with vertical board siding. At the juncture of the roof and wall
is a open comice that exhibits the ends of the structural ties. The roof is covered with raised seam
metal.

The bam's interior is divided into fifteen, four foot "rooms" created by tobacco poles, but
the barn is divided into seven structural bays of approximately 9 feet each. The primary transverse
aisle between the east and west walls is served by the two paired doors on those respective
elevations. The braced frame construction consists of heavy hewn corner posts and intermediate
studs that are joined by four levels of horizontal rails. These horizontal rails serve as nailers for the
exterior siding, provide lateral support for the framing system, and also support the tobacco poles.
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The corner posts as well as some of the intermediate studs are further strengthened by pit sawn and
hewn down braces. Intermediate lateral support is achieved through two transverse sills that
feature braces. These two sills were replaced during the renovation. These braces connect the sill
to a large stud. The studs and comer posts rise until they are mortise and tenoned into a hewn wall
plate. The plates on the east and west sides feature a scarf joint that enables the structural member
to extend the full length of the barn. The wall plate supports a series of vertically set, structural ties
that are hewn and pit sawn. A series of vertical round poles bisects the barn longitudinally from
north to south on four foot centers and provide an intermediate support for the tobacco poles.

They feature round through-mortises to receive the tobacco poles. These vertical poles are mortise
and tenoned to the structural ties. The ties support a hewn false plate which in turn supports the
hewn rafters. Each rafter pair is strengthened laterally by three ties that are haif lapped and nailed.
The rafters are joined at the roof peak with half lap joints that are nailed with fully formed cut nails.

The second bam is located approximately 0.2 miles northwest of the house on the south
side of Oakley Road. The bam is a rectangular structure oriented on a north-south axis. The main
structure measures approximately 24 feet 6 inches wide and 80 feet long. An original, earthfast,
hipped roof, lean-to shed, measuring approximately 40 feet wide and 20 feet long, extends from
the east gable end of the barn.

Erected in the 1840s, the second barn is constructed of hewn and pit-sawn lumber. Like
the first barn, the building features a cross axial plan with large double doors centered on the north
and south elevations of the main section of the building. The double door on the north elevation
has been extensively altered and was converted into a single door entry in the twentieth century.
Just to the east of this converted door is another single door entry. The south elevation features a
large central double-door, a loft door for hay storage, as well as an opening in the shed that was
never secured with a door. Several of the doors feature wrought strap hinges with pintels. These
hinges appear to have been reused from earlier doors as the straps were secured with wire nails and
SCTews.

The frame of the barn rests on a fieldstone foundation. The exterior is sheathed with
circular sawn vertical board siding that is secured with a combination of cut and wire nails. At the
intersection of the roof and wall is an open comice that features the ends of the interior structural
ties that extend beyond the exterior wall surface. The roof is covered with raised seam metal.

The most distinctive feature of the barn is the framing system. While divided into eight
foot structural bays, the barn is further subdivided by a series of four, transverse, braced sills.
The bays are spaced on eight foot centers, while the transverse sills are roughly on sixteen foot
centers. The studs, sills, braces, rails, wall plates, and ties are all either hewn or pit-sawn. A
series of vertical skinned cedar posts line the center of the bam to support the two sets of horizontal
tobacco poles. These vertical posts are mortise-and-tenoned to the wall ties. The ties are half-
lapped over the wall plate and extend beyond the face of the exterior wall. The common ties
support a hewn flat false plate which, in turn, buoys the common rafter roof. Each rafter pair is
Joined together by three half-lapped, common ties. At the peak of the roof the rafters are merely
half lapped and nailed. Sometime after the barn was initially erected, the easternmost room of the
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main section was converted for use as a corn crib or granary. These changes included laying a
plank floor on top of hewn floor joists, creating an interior lining of vertical planks, and framing-in
a loft.

The earthfast lean-to, situated on the east side of barn, is constructed of similarly tooled
framing members. The earthfast cedar posts are mortised-and-tenoned into hewn wall plates. Ties
run east to west linking the shed to the main section. These ties support a hewn false plate that in
turn supports the rafters. A series of struts extend off the rafters giving the roof of the shed a
distinctive hipped shape. These struts connect to the gable end of the main section. Like in the
main section, a series of four vertical posts bridge the space in the shed so as to support are series
of tobacco poles.
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construction of the house, Dent wrote periodically about the injustices Union troops inflicted upon
him and his neighbors and needless to say was a staunch Confederate supporter who also spoke
out extensively about the rights of states. Much of the Dent family moved to Atlanta, Georgia as a
result of the American Civil War, but oral tradition relates that those who stayed behind harbored
many escaped prisoners from Point Lookout and helped them successfully escape to Virginia.
Later residents of Burlington included Lettie M. Dent (later Gough) a famous educator and
superintendent of schools for St. Mary's County who judiciously served the county from the
1920s-1950s. During this period, Miss Dent oversaw the consolidation of schools--the movement
away from local one room schoolhouses to more centralized facilities. A scholarship, dedicated to
her memory, is awarded to St. Mary's County students interested in pursuing careers in education.
The county also named an elementary school in New Market after Miss Dent.
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Chain-of-Title
(All deeds are located at the L.and Records Office, St. Mary's County Courthouse, L.eonardtown,
Maryland unless otherwise noted.)

Reference: Liber MRB 437, Folio 144

Grantee: Dr. William C. and Claire B. Mulford

Grantor: W. Gilbert Dent, St. Mary's Hospital of St. Mary's County, Inc., Arthur Page Gough
and Robert Lee Gough

Date: October 13, 1988

Notes: The deed notes "Burlington" as containing 76.50 acres and "Woodland" containing 10
acres.

Reference: Liber MRB 381, Folio 439

Grantee: W. Gilbert Dent

Grantor: W. Gilbert Dent, personal representative of Fannie Jo Dent (5/8 interest)
Date: October 23, 1987

Reference: Liber MRB 252, Folio 352

Grantee: Fannie Jo Dent

Grantor: Lettie Marshall Dent Scholarship Fund

Date: March 11, 1986

Notes: 1/8 interestin Burlington and Woodland transferred

Reference: Liber MRB 147, Folio 345

Grantee: Fannie Jo Dent, remainder of her life, with remainder to Arthur Page Gough II, Robert
Lee Gough, St. Mary's Hospital of St. Mary's County, and the Lettie Marshall Dent Scholarship
fund

Grantor: W. Gilbert Dent - personal representative of the estate of Lettie M. Dent Gough

Date: June 23, 1983

Reference: Liber 111, Folio 239

Grantee: Fannie Jo Dent and Lettie M. Dent Gough
Grantor: Lawyer's Title Company

Date: December 31, 1963

Reference: Liber 111, Folio 241

Grantee: Lawyer's Title Company

Grantor: Fannie Jo Dent and Lettie M. Dent Gough
Date: December 31, 1963

Reference: Liber CBG 89, Folio 21

Grantee: Fannie Jo Dent and Lettie M. Dent Gough
Grantor: Lawyer's Title Company

Date: July 1, 1960

Reference: Liber CBG 89, Folio 19

Grantee: Lawyer's Title Company

Grantor: Fannie Jo Dent and Lettie M. Dent Gough and Arthur P. Gough
Date: July 1, 1960
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Reference: LiberJMM 11,423

Grantee: Fannie Jo Dent and Lettie Marshall Dent

Grantor: Ruth Dent Burch, Elliot E. Burch, and Elizabeth P. Dent

Date: May 12, 1939

Notes: The deed notes that Fannie L. Dent died leaving her estate to the above heirs. All of the
heirs divide the property. Fannie Jo and Lettie Marshall Dent receive "Burlington.”

Reference: Liber EBA 1, Folio 237

Grantee: Fannie L. Dent of Atlanta, Georgia

Grantor: J. Marshall Dent, executor of John F. Dent

Date: January 15, 1900

Notes: The deed notes the transfer of the property called "Burlington."

Reference: (Mortgage)

Grantee: John F. Dent

Grantor: J. Walter Carpeneter

Date: November 11, 1887

Notes: John F. Dent takes out a $3000 mortgage on the following properties "Burlington"
composed of Qakley 29 acres, Part of St. Clements Manor 40 1/2 acres, Part Same 33 1/2 acres,
Part Ditto, 112 1/2 acres, Part Barton Hall 8 3/4 acres, Mossey Lee and Attaway Purchase 272
acres, Part Ainsworth 15 acres, Part St. Clements Manor 75 acres, Part Church Swamp 200 acres,
Lot #3 in Church Swamp 47 acres, part Blue Stone 75 acres.

Reference: Liber JFF 5, Folio 9

Grantee: John F. Dent

Grantor: Jane H. G. Collins

Date: February 28, 1881

Notes: This deed confirms the sale of the 234 acre property called "Burlington" from John Kilgour
to John F. Dent via Kilgour's daughter Jane Hagul Goldis Collins. The tract is described as
located at the head of Canoe Neck Creek and part lying in Church Swamp.

Alienations and Transfers

Reference: Folio 207

Grantee: John Kilgour

Grantor: Alban G. Smith

Date: April 29, 1817

Notes: The deed notes the transfer of several tracts that included "Burlington." It also relates that
the property was once owned by Philip Medley and Thomas Bullock who had died seized and
possessed.

Reference: Folio 52

Grantee: Thomas Allstan

Grantor: Philip Medley

Date: June 16, 1797

Notes: This transfer notes "Burlington" as containing 67 acres.
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St. Mary's Debt Books

George Bullock (1756-1758)
"Part of Burlington or St. Clements Manor”, 75 acres

John Bond (1756-1758)
"Part of Burlington or St. Clements Manor”, 25 acres
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The most notable exterior feature of this plain. two-story frame house is a
centrally positioned “captain’s walk' at the roof-ridge level.
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